Adam E. Brigman, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 11926 CRAM VALDEZ BRIGMAN & NELSON 8831 W. Sahara Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada 89117

Telephone: (702) 255-0700 Facsimile: (702) 255-2159

Electronically Filed Apr 02 2015 09:21 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JA CYNTA McCLENDON,

Appellant,

vs.

DIANE COLLINS and; ROE CORPORATIONS I through X, inclusive; and DOES I through X, inclusive,

Respondent.

Supreme Court No. 66473

District Court Case No. A-13-680935 Dept. No. XXX

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ATTORNEY FOR THE APPELLANT

II.	STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND RELEVANT FACTS
IV.	ARGUMENT: DISCOVERY IS A TRUTH SEEKING PROCESS:5
	A. Defendant properly disclosed Dr. Appel as an expert medical witness, but on the eve of trial de-designated Dr. Appel to conceal the truth from the jury
	B. The protections of NRCP 26 (b)(4)(B) do not apply in this case because Respondent properly designated Dr. Appel as a testifying expert witness, supplemented his report twice, and originally agreed to the doctor's deposition
V.	CONCLUSION
VI.	CERTIFICATE OF ATTORNEY

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal arises from a negligence action for personal injuries related to a motor vehicle accident that occurred on May 15, 2012, in Las Vegas, Nevada. On April 30, 2013 Appellant filed a complaint against the Respondent. On or about August 14, 2014, certain pretrial issues were raised by motion and were ruled upon in the days prior to Short Trial, which directly impacted the outcome of subject underlying Short Trial. On August 22, 2014, this matter went to Short Trial before a jury and resulted in a jury verdict in favor of the Defendant (Respondent). On September 5, 2014 Plaintiff filed her Notice of Appeal and Case Appeal Statement with the Court.

NSTR 33 states, in relevant part that a party to a case within the short trial program shall have a right to file a direct appeal of the final judgment to the supreme court under the provisions of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure and the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure.

NRAP 3A(b)(1) provides that an appeal may be taken from a final judgment entered in an action commenced in court in which a judgment has been rendered. This appeal is taken subsequent to the judgment and entry of judgment from the Court in which a judgment is rendered pursuant to this rule.

Therefore, Appellant filed her appeal timely, complied with the appropriate rules following final judgment in the underlying matter and jurisdiction is proper.

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The Short Trial court improperly granted Defendant's Motion for Protective Order, which precluded Defendant's own designated medical expert and the expert opinion which was favorable to Plaintiff and unfavorable to Defendant, following Defendant's proper designation of that expert, including supplements thereto. The court also denied Plaintiff the right to designate that same expert. The Short Trial court's ruling permitted Defendant to:

- De-designate her testifying expert medical witness on the eve of trial, despite timely designation of that expert months earlier, and two disclosed supplemental reports from that expert;
- Deny the Plaintiff the right to depose that expert and use that expert's testimony and report at trial.

Defendant's actions, and the Short Trial court's ruling were inappropriate, do not comport with Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, case law precedent, or the principles of justice and fairness, and precluded the jury from reviewing the whole truth, and key evidence and ultimately was fatal to Appellant's underlying claims.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND RELEVANT FACTS

This matter originates from a motor vehicle accident that occurred May 15, 2012. Plaintiff Ja Cynta McClendon was exiting the I-95 Northbound off-ramp onto westbound Lake Mead Blvd., in Las Vegas, when Defendant Diane Collins failed to stop her vehicle behind Plaintiff, and crashed into the rear of Plaintiff's vehicle. As a result of the accident Ja Cynta McClendon sustained injuries, received medical treatment, and incurred significant medical expenses as a result of those injuries.

On April 30, 2013 Ja Cynta McClendon filed a complaint against Defendant Collins in District Court under a negligence theory. *See* Exhibit 1. This matter proceeded through the court mandated arbitration program. Plaintiff Ja Cynta McClendon prevailed at arbitration. *See* Exhibit 2.

Thereafter, Defendant filed a timely Request for Trial de Novo. Subsequently, short trial was set for August 22, 2014, with a discovery deadline of July 30, 2014. See Exhibit 3. On June 4, 2014, Defendant designated medical expert witness Dr. Eugene Appel. See Exhibit 4. On June 24, 2014 Defendant disclosed her first supplement to Dr. Appel's expert report. See Exhibit 5. On August 5, 2014, Defendant disclosed a second supplement to Dr. Appel's expert report. See Exhibit 6. Dr. Appel's report and supplemental reports contained opinions favorable to Plaintiff. See Exhibit 7. Prior to the close of discovery,

Plaintiff designated medical expert Dr. David Oliveri, as a rebuttal expert, to rebut various opinion's held by Dr. Appel. *See* Exhibit 8. Defendant disputed Plaintiff's designation and demanded additional time to depose Dr. Oliveri. As a matter of fairness and reciprocity, Plaintiff also requested leave to depose Dr. Appel. The court granted both parties requests for deposition of the opposing expert, then extended the discovery deadline from July 30, 2014 to August 18, 2014, (only three days prior to trial) for the sole purpose of deposing those expert witnesses: Dr. Appel, and Dr. Oliveri. *See* Exhibit 9.

On August 12, 2014, after properly noticing the depositions of the experts, and approximately three days prior to Plaintiff taking Dr. Appel's deposition, Defendant filed a de-designation of Dr. Appel. *See* Exhibit 10. On August 13, 2014, prior to the close of discovery, and as a result of Defendant's de-designation, Plaintiff designated Dr. Appel as her own expert. *See* Exhibit 11.

On August 14, 2014, Defendant filed a Motion for Protective Order, arguing that because Dr. Appel had been de-designated, he was no longer an expert, could not be deposed, and could not testify or render opinions to be used in trial. *See* **Exhibit 12**. On August 14, 2014, in opposition to Defendant's motion, Plaintiff filed a motion to designate Eugene L. Appel, M.D., as her own expert witness, take his deposition, and use his written opinions and deposition testimony at trial. *See* **Exhibit 13** The court issued an Order granting Defendant's Protective Order and

denying Plaintiff's Motion. See Exhibit 14. At Short Trial, the jury rendered a verdict in favor of Defendant. Without doubt, Defendant's deception in keeping Dr. Appel's opinions from the jury contributed heavily to such a verdict, and the Short Trial court erred in allowing Defendant to hide the truth.

IV. ARGUMENT

DISCOVERY IS A TRUTH SEEKING PROCESS

A. Defendant properly disclosed Dr. Appel as an expert medical witness, but on the eve of trial de-designated Dr. Appel to conceal the truth from the jury.

Defendant properly designated Dr. Appel on June 4, 2014, more than two months prior to trial. See Exhibit 4. On June 24, 2014, Defendant provided a supplemental expert report from Dr. Appel. See Exhibit 5. Then, on August 5, 2014, approximately two weeks prior to trial, Defendant disclosed a second supplement to Dr. Appel's expert medical report. See Exhibit 6. Dr. Appel's reports actually imply that the subject accident not only occurred but produced enough force to injure Plaintiff/Appellant and to justify her in seeking medical treatment. See Exhibit 7. However, on the eve of trial and Dr. Appel's properly noticed deposition, Defendant/Respondent de-designated Dr. Appel as her medical expert. See Exhibit 10. Defendant/Respondent knew the jury would see the truth and that it would benefit Plaintiff: that Plaintiff/Appellant was in fact injured as a

result of the underlying motor vehicle accident and was justified in seeking medical treatment.

This Court has not yet directly addressed the issue Appellant raises in this appeal: the impropriety of a party de-designating their own expert witness on the eve of trial following his timely disclosure, and production of his reports and supplemental reports, to precluded a properly noticed deposition, and to hide those opinions from the jury; and, the propriety of the opposing party's timely subsequent expert designation (of the de-designated expert); and, the opposing party's timely notice of deposition of that expert, to permit the jury to review all of the evidence and see the whole truth.

Fortunately, several other courts around the country have ruled on this issue. Courts from California to Florida have ruled in favor of denying a defendant's dedesignation of a properly disclosed expert, (or, what amounts to, Defendant's' Motion to Strike her own expert), and in favor of allowing that expert's properly disclosed report to be used at trial.

District Court Judge George Marovich, in a memorandum opinion and order regarding The Hartford Fire Insurance Company, Inc., v. Transgroup Express, Inc., 264 F.R.D. 382 (N.D. Ill. 2009), discusses The Hartford Fire Insurance Company, Inc.'s petition to quash a subpoena issued by Transgroup Express, Inc., served on one of Hartford's disclosed testifying experts. In that case, Hartford's expert had

already produced *two* expert reports in the matter. Upon notice of that expert's deposition, Hartford withdrew the expert as a testifying expert and refused to produce him for deposition. Judge Marovich found that Transgroup was entitled to the expert's deposition, even though Transgroup had re-designated the expert as a non-testifying expert. Judge Marovich opined, in relevant part, as follows:

Discovery is a truth-seeking process, and it does not serve that process to allow a party to avoid the deposition of an expert whose report has been produced by changing that expert's designation to that of a trial-preparation expert. The Court anticipates that the Seventh Circuit would agree that parties cannot protect an expert from a deposition by changing an expert's designation from testifying expert to trial-preparation expert after that expert's report has been produced to the opposing party. [Magistrate] Judge Denlow properly relied on SEC v. Koenig, 557 F.3d 736, 744 (7th Cir. 2009). In Koenig, the Seventh Circuit considered whether it was proper for the SEC to call Koenig's expert witness, Dunbar, at trial even though Koenig had decided not to call Dunbar. The Seventh Circuit concluded that the SEC was not required to list Dunbar as its own witness during discovery in order to call him at trial. The Seventh Circuit went on to say:

Suppose this is wrong, however, and that the SEC should have identified Dunbar during discovery as its own witness Delay in alerting Koenig that Dunbar might testify was as harmless as they come, given Dunbar's status as Koenig's expert Koenig maintains that with more advance notice from the SEC he would have withdrawn Dunbar as an expert. But how could that have helped? A witness identified as a testimonial expert is available to either side; such a person can't be transformed after the report has been disclosed, and a deposition conducted, to the status of trial-preparation expert whose identity and views may be concealed. See Fed. R.Civ.P. 26(b)(4)(B). Disclosure of the report ends opportunity the invoke to

confidentiality. SEC v. Koenig, 557 F.3d at 744 (emphasis added).

This Court is aware, as Hartford points out, that the quoted portion is dicta. Still, the Seventh Circuit considered (albeit quickly) whether a party could re-designate an expert as a trial-preparation expert after an expert report has been issued. The Seventh Circuit concluded, albeit in dicta, that the "[d]isclosure of the report ends the opportunity to invoke confidentiality." This Court reads that to mean that a party cannot invoke the protections of Rule 26(b)(4)(B) after the party has issued an expert report with respect to a particular expert.

Other courts mirror Judge Marovich's Order and the holding in SEC v. Koenig. In Peterson v. Willie, 81 F. 3d 1033 (1996), the United States Court of Appeals, Eleventh Circuit, dealt with a similar issue. In that case, a plaintiff appealed a judgment entered on a jury verdict, based in part on the district court's purported error in allowing the testimony of a doctor retained by the plaintiff- but later discharged- to testify on behalf of defendants. Id. at 1037. The doctor in Peterson was designated by the plaintiff as an expert witness expected to testify at trial pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26(b)(4)(A)(i), the analogue to Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 26(b)(4)(A). Following that doctor's unfavorable deposition testimony, the plaintiff in <u>Peterson</u> withdrew the doctor's designation as a trial expert and filed a motion in limine seeking to preclude him from testifying in the trial. Id. The plaintiff argued, that the testimony from that doctor would be cumulative and duplicative of other experts. However, the district court permitted

the doctor to testify at trial on behalf of the defendants, and also allowed the doctor to testify that he was originally retained by plaintiff's counsel. <u>Id</u>. The Eleventh Circuit ruled that there was no error in allowing Defendants to call Plaintiff's expert at trial. <u>Id</u>.

The instant issue raised by Appellant mirrors the above-cited cases. In Peterson, an expert is retained and properly designated by a party. Then, that party, following disclosure of the expert as a trial witness, and written report, finds that the testimony no longer benefits their case. See Peterson at 1036-37. Following the de-designation by a party, the Eleventh Circuit found that the opposing party could then call that expert at trial. In Hartford, the Eleventh Circuit found that simply because a party's expert produces opinion unfavorable to their position does not preclude the other party from eliciting their testimony at trial.

Additionally, in <u>Cogdell v. Brown</u>, the New Jersey Superior Court of Law noted that "a trial is essentially a search for the truth," and found that the plaintiff in that matter could call as their witness an examining doctor who was initially consulted by one of the defendants and who prepared a report on behalf of a defendant. <u>Codgell v. Brown</u>, 220 N.J. Super. 330, 531 A2d 1379 (1997).

Here, similar to <u>Hartford</u>, Respondent in this matter sought to preclude her own expert from testifying via his written and disclosed opinion, due to what she perceive as unfavorable testimony to her case, and also to preclude her expert's

deposition testimony for the same reason. And like <u>Hartford</u>, Respondent here was successful in excluding her expert's report and concealing truth from the jury. Respondent's actions here were questionable at every level, and contrary to the principle of justice, fairness, and propriety. The Short Trial court's opinion regarding Respondent's de-designation was contrary to the procedural rules, logic, and the well-reasoned opinions found in persuasive authority from other jurisdictions.

B. The protections of NRCP 26 (b)(4)(B) do not apply in this case because Respondent properly designated Dr. Appel as a testifying expert witness, supplemented his report twice, and originally agreed to the Doctor's deposition.

Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 26(b)(4)(B) reads:

A party may, through interrogatories or by deposition, discover facts known or opinions held by an expert who has been retained or specially employed by another party in anticipation of litigation or preparation for trial and **who is not expected to be called as a witness at trial**, only as provided in Rule 35(b) or upon a showing of exceptional circumstances under which it is impracticable for the party seeking discovery to obtain facts or opinions on the same subject by other means.

It is anticipated that Respondent may erroneously attempt to rely upon NRCP 26 (b)(4)(B) in her argument before this Court. However, reliance upon this rule by Respondent here, and the by underlying Short Trial court in making the subject underlying ruling, was/is wrong.

On June 4, 2014, Defendant/Respondent filed a Designation of Expert Witness, designating Dr. Appel as an expert witness, and stated, "Dr. Appel is expected to testify with respect to his evaluation of Plaintiff JaCynta McClendon's medical records and render opinions regarding Plaintiff's alleged injuries and the reasonable necessity of Plaintiff's medical treatment." *See* Exhibit 4.

On June 24, Defendant/Respondent filed a first Supplement to Designation of Expert Witness, again designating Dr. Appel, and stating that he "is expected to testify with respect to his evaluation of Plaintiff JaCynta McClendon's medical records…" *See* Exhibit 5.

Yet again, on August 5, 2014, Defendant/Respondent filed a second Supplement for Dr. Appel, stating the same designation. *See* Exhibit 6. Additionally, on August 1, 2014, and at the agreement of the parties, Plaintiff/Appellant properly noticed the deposition of Dr. Appel. *See* Exhibit 15.

Within days of trial, and acting well outside the scope of NRCP 26 (b)(4)(B), Respondent inappropriately de-designated Dr. Appel as an expert witness after having properly designated him, supplemented his expert report twice, and agreed to his deposition as an expert, with that deposition having been properly noticed. The Short Trial court wrongly upheld Respondent's deceptive action.

Regarding such behavior, the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals flatly

rejected the idea that an expert who has been designated as a testifying expert witness and has produced an expert report can later be re-designated as a non-testifying expert (or, de-designated like the present matter) to avoid having the expert deposed.

In <u>SEC v. Koenig</u>, 557 F.3d 736, (7th Cir. 2009) (citing Fed.R.Civ.P. 26(b)(4)(B)), that court stated:

A witness identified as a testimonial expert is available to either side; such a person can't be transformed after the report has been disclosed . . . to the status of a trial-preparation expert whose identity and views may be concealed." A party's "disclosure of the report ends the opportunity to invoke confidentiality. Id. at 744.

Additionally, while NRCP 26(b)(4)(B) also makes reference to *exceptional* circumstances, courts have held that the "exceptional circumstances" exception does not apply where a non-testifying expert was previously designated as an expert testifying witness.

In Meharg v. I-Flow Corp., the U.S. District Court held that "an expert is taken out of purview of Rule 26(b)(4)(B) once designated to testify at trial and court should use discretion to decide whether expert should be deposed, weighing the probative value against the prejudice." Meharg v. I-Flow Corp., 2009 WL 1867696, (S.D. Ind. June 26, 2009)(Emphasis added). Likewise in United States v. Cinergy Corp., the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Indiana held that a "designation of expert as one to testify at trial takes expert out of purview of

doctor's deposition. Yet, the Short Trial court failed to stand upon the rules, logic, and persuasive case law, in order to preclude a clear miscarriage of justice. Nothing in NRCP 26(b)(4)(B) prohibited Plaintiff from deposing Dr. Appel and using his report at trial. What Respondent did was wrong, as was the Short Trial court's ruling in Defendant/Respondent's favor.

V. CONCLUSION

Dr. Appel was properly designated and disclosed by Respondent as a testifying expert witness; his report was supplemented not once, but twice; and, Respondent agreed to the taking of Dr. Appel's deposition. Thus, Dr. Appel was a testifying medical expert. The Short Trial court was wrong in permitting Respondent to de-designate Dr. Appel as a testifying expert and consider him a trial consultant, simply because Respondent realized Dr. Appel's report was entirely favorable to the Defendant/Respondent's underlying case. Additionally, nothing in NRCP 26(b)(4)(B) exists to prohibit Plaintiff/Appellant from deposing Dr. Appel, and using his report at trial, and designating him as her own testifying expert.

Respondent in this matter sought to preclude her own expert from testifying in deposition, and at trial in person, or via his written and disclosed opinion, because she realized his report was unfavorable to her case. However, despite the

present facts being similar to the facts in above-cited cases, the Short Trial court ruled in Respondent's favor and in direct opposition to rulings in Hartford and Peterson. Consequently, Respondent here was successful hiding the whole truth from the jury, by excluding her expert's report and supplements, and in preventing his deposition. These actions ultimately proved to fatally harm Appellant's underlying case. This is the antithesis of justice. Discovery is a truth seeking process. Respondent hid the truth. The Short Trial court permitted the deception. And, ultimately Plaintiff/Appellant suffered. Appellant respectfully requests that this honorable Court reverse the Short Trial court's subject order granting Defendant/Respondent's de-designation of Dr. Appel as testifying expert and reverse the subject protective order, and reverse the denial of Plaintiff's motion to designate the good doctor and take his deposition. Appellant further respectfully requests that, as a result of the injustice described in this appeal, this Court vacate the Short Trial jury verdict and judgment, and remand this matter for retrial.

•••

...

• •

• • •

٠.,