Supreme Court Case No. 66473 District Court Case No. A-13-680935

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NElectionically Filed Jul 21 2015 08:52 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman JA CYNTA McCLENDON,

Appellant,

v.

DIANE COLLINS; and ROE CORPORATIONS I through X; and DOES I through X, inclusive,

Respondent.

ANSWERING BRIEF

District Court, Clark County The Honorable Jerry A. Wiese Civil Case No. A-13-680935

> McCormick, Barstow, Sheppard, Wayte & Carruth LLP Wade M. Hansard Nevada Bar No. 8104 Daniel I. Aquino Nevada Bar No. 12682 8337 West Sunset Road, Suite 350 Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 Telephone: (702) 949-1100 Facsimile: (702) 949-1101

Attorneys for Defendant DIANE COLLINS

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

Finally, Plaintiff relies on *S.E.C. v. Koenig*, 557 F.3d 736, 744 (7th Cir. 2009). However, Plaintiff's citation to this case paraphrases and omits an extremely relevant portion. Plaintiff's citation to this states:

> A witness identified as a testimonial expert is available to either side; such a person can't be transformed after the report has been disclosed <u>. . .</u> to the status of a trialpreparation expert whose identity and views may be concealed.

(Appellant's Brief, p. 12) (emphasis added).

The ellipsis emphasized above is notable because it omits the following brief and very pertinent phrase from the opinion: "**and a deposition conducted**". *S.E.C. v. Koenig*, 557 F.3d 736, 744 (7th Cir. 2009). Put simply, the Court in *Koenig* placed importance on the fact that the expert's deposition had occurred, which did not occur in the facts before this Court. Plaintiff's omission of this exact portion of the sentence is also strange given that, earlier in her Brief, she included this full quote when cited by *Hartford*, *supra*. (*Appellant's Brief*, *p.* 7.) This earlier portion of Plaintiff's Brief also noted the fact that *Koenig*'s statement on this point was merely dicta. (*Id.*).

Put simply, Plaintiff's cited cases are either inapplicable, or show that Plaintiff would have been precluded from deposing Dr. Appel even under her proposed alternate standard. Rather, none of the circumstances from the cases above that weighed in favor of allowing the deposition of those experts are present here. Dr. Appel never examined Plaintiff and never had his deposition taken. The only information Plaintiff could have elicited from Dr. Appel that her own experts were not able to fully testify to was the fact that Dr. Appel was previously retained by Defendant, which even Plaintiff's own cited cases show is clearly improper.¹²

¹² Several other courts and authorities have noted the prejudice that results from informing a jury that an expert had been originally consulted by the opposing party. (See, e.g., *Healy v. Counts*, 100 F.R.D. 493 (D.Colo.1984); *Granger v. Wisner*, 134 Ariz. 377, 656 P.2d 1238, 1242 (1982) ("Jurors unfamiliar with the role of counsel in adversary proceedings might well assume that plaintiff's counsel had suppressed evidence which he had an obligation to offer. Such a reaction could destroy counsel's credibility in the eyes of the jury."); *Rubel v. Eli Lilly and Company*, 160 F.R.D. 458,

Accordingly, Plaintiff has not demonstrated that the District Court committed reversible error.

4. <u>This Court Has Previously Held that a District Court's Proper Exercise</u> of Discretion Will Not be Overturned

Finally, while NRCP 26 (b)(4)(B) is controlling here based on its plain language, Plaintiff's Brief has, at most, pointed to an ambiguity and split of authority that exists on the application of analogous rules in other jurisdictions. To the extent that the District Court's decision was a reasoned decision on an open question of Nevada law, it should not be disturbed.

A trial court is vested with discretion to simplify the issues and limit the number of expert witnesses allowed to testify. *Jeep Corp. v. Murray*, 101 Nev. 640, 646, 708 P.2d 297, 301 (1985), superseded by statute on other grounds as stated in *Countrywide Home Loans v. Thitchener*, 124 Nev. 725, 192 P.3d 243, 253–54 & n. 39 (2008). For such evidentiary issues, both admission and exclusion of the evidence may be within the District Court's discretion, and the trial court's decision will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. *Hansen v. Universal Health Servs. of Nevada, Inc.*, 115 Nev. 24, 27, 974 P.2d 1158, 1160 (1999) ("This exclusion was not an abuse of discretion. Even though a contrary finding would also have been within the court's discretion with regard to the standard of care upon which the jury was instructed, this

^{460 (}S.D.N.Y.1995) (describing this prejudicial fact as "explosive.") (quoting 8 Charles A. Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Richard L. Marcus, Federal Practice and Procedure: Civil § 2032, at 447 (1994)).).

court will not overturn the district court's exclusion of relevant evidence absent an abuse of discretion."). *See also, Southern Pac. Transp. Co. v. Fitzgerald*, 94 Nev. 241, 243, 577 P.2d 1234, 1235 (1978). (The court is likewise authorized to exclude even relevant evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger that it will confuse the issues, mislead the jury, or result in undue delay.")

Plaintiff's Brief does not identify any specific abuse of discretion. At most, Plaintiff argues that a legal standard never adopted in Nevada should have applied, but even under that standard fails to address how exactly the District Court's decision strayed from its wide latitude of discretion into reversible error. Based on the applicable Nevada legal authority outlined above, the District Court should not be disturbed because the District Court did not abuse its discretion.

C. <u>The Court's Order Properly Excluded Dr. Appel's Written Opinions At</u> <u>Trial.</u>

1. <u>Standard of Review</u>

A district court's evidentiary rulings are ordinarily reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Hansen, supra*, 115 Nev. 24. See also *K-Mart Corp. v. Washington*, 109 Nev. 1180, 1186, 866 P.2d 274, 278 (1993) (Court will not overturn trial court's determination absent manifest error or abuse of discretion); and *Jacobson v. Manfredi*, 100 Nev. 226, 679 P.2d 251 (1984) (held that allowing the subsequent drug product container and label as evidence of feasibility of precautionary measures was within the district court's discretion). "We review a district court's decision to admit or exclude

evidence for abuse of discretion, and we will not interfere with the district court's exercise of its discretion absent a showing of palpable abuse." *M.C. Multi–Family Dev., L.L.C. v. Crestdale Assocs.*, Ltd., 124 Nev. 901, 913, 193 P.3d 536, 544 (2008); *Fulbrook v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, No. 61567, 2015 WL 439598, at *2 (Nev. Jan. 30, 2015). Indeed, NRS §48.035 provides that "[a]lthough relevant, evidence is not admissible if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, of confusion of the issues or of misleading the jury."

2. <u>The District Court Correctly Excluded Dr. Appel's Expert Report and</u> <u>Opinions at Trial</u>

Contrary to Plaintiff's assertions, the District Court did not disregard any legal standards. Instead, the Court correctly exercised its discretion by recognizing Defendant's right to de-designated its expert and to then preclude his opinions on medical issues from being presented at trial. Plaintiff has not indicated or alleged that her own treating physicians were unable to testify regarding medical causation.

The case of *Staccato v. Valley Hosp.*, 170 P.3d 503, 123 Nev. Adv. Rep. 49 (2007) clearly articulates that the district courts have discretion regarding the allowance of expert witness testimony. (See also, *Hansen, supra.*) The District Court exercised this discretion in allowing Defendant to withdraw its expert witness and by not allowing him to testify at deposition or trial.

3. <u>The District Court's Precluding Of Dr. Appel's Testimony Was</u> <u>Harmless</u>

Even assuming error, a verdict will not be set aside unless it affects the substantial rights of the parties. NRCP 61. *City of Elko v. Zillich*, 100 Nev. 366, 371, 683 P.2d 5, 8 (1984).

It is curious as to why Plaintiff did not alert this Court to the fact that the District Court allowed Plaintiff to offer expert witness causation testimony. She attempts to have this Court address her argument about Dr. Appel's "missing" testimony in a void without providing this crucial factor that was appropriately weighed by the trial court in exercising his discretion, and in balancing the equities, in order to achieve an even playing field and overall fairness.

Plaintiff's claim that she was deprived of Dr. Appel's "favorable" causation testimony is simply false. First it was likely inadmissible under *Hallmark*. As outlined earlier in Defendant's Statement of Facts, Dr. Oliveri's report contains two entire pages outlining his medical causation opinion, ultimately concluding that the subject accident caused all of Plaintiff's alleged injuries, and that all of Plaintiff's treatment was necessary. (*Resp. App.* at 24-25). This expert report was admitted at trial. (*Resp. App.* at 14-27). Thus, Plaintiff was able to present expert testimony regarding her alleged injuries, the causation of these injuries, and the necessity of medical treatment via her own experts at trial.

Given the extensive medical expert opinions on causation that Plaintiff was able to present at trial, Dr. Appel's opinion that the emergency room visit and 1 or 2 physical therapy sessions might have been necessary was duplicative. Any content of Dr. Appel's expert report that Plaintiff claims she was deprived of would already have been before the jury by her expert.

Plaintiff offers only unsupported statements that she should have been able to depose Dr. Appel and use him at trial, however, her Brief never takes the necessary analytical step of showing how exactly the result of trial would have differed—this is fatal given that the addition of Dr. Appel's opinions by Plaintiff would not have served any additional purpose at trial or affected the trier of fact's decision. Thus, the exclusion of these opinions was, if in error, harmless error.

The Nevada Supreme Court clearly articulated its position in *Fox v. Cusick*, 91 Nev. 218 (1975). The Court held:

It was for the jury to weigh the evidence and assess the credibility to be accorded the several witnesses. It is impossible for us to know whether the jury found for the defendant ... because of a belief that he did not proximately cause the [accident], or because of a belief that the [Plaintiffs] did not truly sustain personal injuries as a result of the [accident]. With regard to the matter of injury and damage, it was within the province of the jury to decide that an accident occurred without compensable injury.

Fox, 91 Nev. at 221.

The Court affirmed this position in *Nev. Contract Servs. Inc. v. Squirrel Cos. Inc.*, 119 Nev. 157 (2003), when it held that:

> It is within the province of the jury, not the court, to weigh the credibility of the plaintiff's evidence in order to determine whether the defendant caused the plaintiff's damages.

Nev. Contract Servs. Inc., 119 Nev. at 162 citing Stackiewicz v. Nissan Motor Corp., 100 Nev. 443, 452 (1984).

The Supreme Court of Nevada has held that a jury, just as they did here, can find liability, but no damages. See *Quintero v. McDonald*, 116 Nev. 1181, 14 P.3d 522 (2000) (held that jury was within its proper discretion in finding that the defendants were entirely at fault for the accident but refusing to award any damages to plaintiff, where plaintiff had presented evidence of \$1,885 in medical expenses, but inconclusive evidence of the reasonableness of her expenses or of the necessity of her treatment). The *Quintero* court stated that the credibility of witnesses and the weight of their testimony is within the jury's sole province and that "[...] the jury was not bound to assign any particular probative value to any evidence presented" 116 Nev. at 1184, 14 P.3d at 524.

Although Plaintiff's Brief does not directly challenge the jury's decision, it implicitly does so, as Plaintiff claims that the jury reached a wrong result. In *Dow Chem. Co. v. Mahlum*, 114 Nev. 1468, 1506, 970 P.2d 98, 123 (1998), the court held that a jury's findings will be affirmed on appeal if they are based upon substantial

evidence in the record. *Prabhu v. Levine*, 112 Nev. 1538, 1543, 930 P.2d 103, 107 (1996). "Substantial evidence has been defined as that which 'a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.'" *Id.* (quoting *State, Emp. Security v. Hilton Hotels*, 102 Nev. 606, 608, 729 P.2d 497, 498 (1986)). In *Dow Chemical* the court said that although there were disputes regarding the conclusions of the Mahlums' experts, the jury was entitled to rely on their testimony, stating: "This court has long adhered to the rule that when there is a conflict in the evidence, the verdict or decision will not be disturbed on appeal." [citing, *Frances v. Plaza Pacific Equities*, 109 Nev. 91, 94, 847 P.2d 722, 724 (1993)]. Stated differently, a jury's verdict will not be overturned if it is supported by substantial evidence unless the verdict was clearly erroneous when viewed in light of all the evidence presented. *Bally's Employees' Credit Union v. Wallen*, 105 Nev. 553, 779 P.2d 956 (1989).

Again, it is extremely important that Plaintiff has wholly failed to provide any record from the trial on this matter. Quite simply, this omission renders Plaintiff unable to carry her burden of showing what the jury's verdict was based on, let alone how the District Court's alleged error influenced the result.

In *Cardinal v. Zonneveld*, 89 Nev. 403, 407-08, 514 P.2d 204, 206-07 (1973), the trial court would not allow an expert to give his opinion as to the speed of the vehicle at the time of collision. This Court had a record that had he been permitted to do so, he would have fixed the speed at about 10 m.p.h. The judge believed that the

witness did not possess sufficient factual data upon which to base an opinion, and for

that reason precluded the same based on Levine v. Remolif, 80 Nev. 168, 390 P.2d 718

(1964). Importantly, the *Cardinal* Court stated:

We need not decide whether the judge properly construed the Levine decision since we are wholly unable to perceive how the proffered opinion was critical to the jury's decision. Mr. Blewett was permitted to testify that since the cars came to rest almost at impact, neither could have been proceeding at a high speed. His testimony corroborated that given by Mrs. Cardinal that she was proceeding slowly. Neither was there a conflict in the evidence as to the speed at which the Zonneveld car was traveling. All who testified on that point surmised his speed to be about 25 m.p.h. The crucial issue was not speed, but rather which driver ran the red light. The jury evidently decided that issue against Mrs. Cardinal. In these circumstances we cannot find that the substantial rights of the plaintiff-appellant were prejudiced by the exclusionary ruling. NRCP 61.

Id. at page 407-08.

The decision to admit or exclude relevant evidence, after balancing the prejudicial effect against the probative value, is within the sound discretion of the trial judge, and the trial court's determination will not be overturned absent manifest error or abuse of discretion. *Id. See also*, NRS 48.035; *K–Mart, supra*, 109 Nev. 1180 at 1186). However, Appellant, in failing to provide a record of the evidence at trial has precluded any meaningful review of the issue.

VI. CONCLUSION

Procedurally, Appellant's Brief should be dismissed for failure to comply with the relevant provisions of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure, and failing to provide this Court any record of the Short Trial itself.

Even if the merits of Appellant's Brief are considered, the District Court applied the controlling statute NRCP 26 (b)(4)(B), finding that a Rule 35 examination had not been performed and that no "exceptional circumstances" existed, proceeding to correctly preclude Plaintiff from deposing Defendant's previous expert Dr. Appel.

Furthermore, even if Plaintiff's non-controlling case law were applicable and a weighing of probative versus prejudicial value had been performed, Plaintiff similarly would have been barred from taking Dr. Appel's deposition—the only portion of his testimony that would not have been cumulative of Plaintiff's experts is his prior retention by Defendant, which is unquestionably improper. This further illustrates that any error Plaintiff could point to was harmless error, as Plaintiff's own experts would have testified to her alleged injuries and medical treatment.

Based on the foregoing, Respondent Collins respectfully requests that this Court affirm the judgement.

28